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OUR

MISSION

CORPORATE

GOVERNANCE

• 	 Provide a sufficient quantity of good quality products at reasonable
	 prices to our customers.

• 	 Maintain a good return on investment to our shareholders

• 	 Provide our employees with reasonable remuneration and opportunities 
	 for personal development and job satisfaction

• 	 Perform the role of a good corporate citizen and contribute
	 to public welfare 

Corporate Governance remains a key area of focus for Seprod Limited and is 
central to the Company’s strategic objectives. The principles and the structure 
of our policy ensure the highest standards of transparency, oversight and 
independence, which serve the best interest of all our stakeholders. The 
practices are consistent with world best practices and adhere to the relevant 
legal and regulatory framework.

Our Corporate Governance Charter was established in December, 2012 by the 
Board of Directors and reviewed in December, 2018. The charter can be seen 
in more detail on the Company’s website – www.seprod.com
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1

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the EIGHTY-FIRST ANNUAL 
GENERAL MEETING of Seprod Limited will be held at the 
Jamaica Pegasus Hotel, 81 Knutsford Boulevard, Kingston 
5 on September 21, 2020 at 11:00a.m., for the purpose of 
transacting the following business:

1.	 TO RECEIVE THE AUDITED ACCOUNTS AND THE
	 REPORTS OF THE DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS 
	 To consider and if thought fit pass the following
	 resolution:

	 “THAT the Directors’ Report, the Auditors’ Report and 
	 the Audited Accounts for the year ended December 
	 31, 2019 be and are hereby adopted.”
 
2.	 TO ELECT DIRECTORS 
	 The Directors retiring from office by rotation pursuant 

to Articles 89 and 91 of the company’s Articles of 
Association are Messrs. Paul B. Scott, Michael Subratie, 
Nicholas Scott and Peter J. Thwaites who, being eligible, 
offer themselves for re-election.

	
	 To consider and if thought fit pass the following 

resolutions:

	 Resolution 2 (a)
	 “THAT the Directors retiring from office by rotation and 

offering themselves for re-election be elected en-bloc.”

	 Resolution 2 (b)
	 “THAT Messrs. Paul B. Scott, Michael Subratie, Nicholas 

Scott and Peter Thwaites be re-elected as Directors. “

3. 	 TO FIX THE REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS.
	 To consider and if thought fit pass the following resolution:
	
	 “THAT the amount shown in the Audited Accounts 

as Directors’ Remuneration for the year ended 31st 
December, 2019 be and is hereby approved.”

4.	 TO APPOINT AUDITORS AND AUTHORIZE THE DIRECTORS 
TO FIX THE REMUNERATION OF THE AUDITORS.

	 To consider and if thought fit pass the following resolutions:
	
	 Resolution 4 (a)
	 “THAT PricewaterhouseCoopers having indicated their 

willingness to continue in office as Auditors be re-
appointed Auditors for the ensuing year.”

	 Resolution 4(b)
	 “THAT the Directors be authorized to agree on the 

remuneration of the Auditors.”

5.	 TO PASS A RESOLUTION FOR THE NOTICE OF ANNUAL 
GENERAL MEETING AND AUDITED ACCOUNTS OF THE 
COMPANY TO BE SENT TO THE MEMBERS IN ELECTRONIC 
FORMAT.

	 To consider and if thought fit pass the following resolution:

	 “THAT the Members agree to accept in electronic format, 
including email, Notices or any other document including 
Audited Accounts, required to be sent by the Company to 
the Members.”

6.	 TO TRANSACT ANY OTHER BUSINESS WHICH MAY
	 PROPERLY BE TRANSACTED AT AN ANNUAL GENERAL 

MEETING.

DATED this 20th day of April, 2020
BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

.....................................
Damion Dodd 
Secretary

A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled 
to appoint a proxy to attend and vote instead of him/her. A 
proxy need not be a member. Proxy forms must be lodged at the 
Company’s registered office, 3 Felix Fox Boulevard, Kingston, 
not less than 48 hours before the time of the meeting.

 NOTICE OF ANNUAL

GENERAL MEETING
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The Directors of Seprod Limited submit herewith their 
Annual Report and Audited Accounts for the year ended 
December 31, 2019.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Group ended the year with a profit before tax of 
$1.39 billion and a net profit attributable to shareholders 
of $1.07 billion. Details of these results, along with a 
comparison with the previous year’s performance and 
the state of affairs of the Company are set out in the 
Management Discussion and Analysis and the Financial 
Statements which are included as part of the Report. 

DIVIDEND

A dividend of fifty cents ($0.50) per ordinary stock unit to 
stockholders on record as at August 2, 2019 was paid on 
August 30, 2019. A further dividend of fifty cents ($0.50) 
per ordinary stock unit to stockholders on record as at 
January 3, 2020 was paid on January 31, 2020. 

The Directors do not recommend any further payment of 
dividends for 2019.

DIRECTORS

In accordance with Articles 89 and 91 of the Company’s 
Articles of Association, the following Directors are 
retiring from office by rotation and, being eligible, offer 
themselves for re-election:

	 •	 Paul B. Scott
	 •	 Michael Subratie
	 •	 Nicholas Scott
	 •	 Peter J. Thwaites

AUDITORS

The Auditors, Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers have 
indicated their willingness to continue in office. The 
Directors recommend their re-appointment.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board of Directors of Seprod Limited exercises its 
responsibilities for the Financial Statements included 
in this Report through its Audit Committee, which 
consists of non-management board members: Mrs. 
Melanie Subratie, Chairperson and members: Mr. Byron 
Thompson, Mr. Peter Thwaites and Mr. Nicholas Scott.

The independent accountants and internal auditors 
have full and free access to the Audit Committee. The 
Audit Committee meets quarterly with the independent 
accountants and the Internal Auditors, both privately 
and with management present, to discuss accounting, 
auditing and financial reporting matters.

EMPLOYEES

The Directors wish to express their appreciation to the 
employees for their loyal services throughout the year.

Submitted on behalf of the Board of Directors.

...................................................
P.B. Scott
CHAIRMAN

 DIRECTORS’

REPORT
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 CORPORATE

DATA
Registered Office:	 3 Felix Fox Boulevard, Kingston
	 Tel: (876) 922-1220
	 Fax: (876) 922-6948 or 922-7344
	 Email: corporate@seprod.com
 
Auditors:	 PricewaterhouseCoopers
	 Scotiabank Centre
	 Corner of Duke & Port Royal Streets
	 Kingston, Jamaica

Attorneys:	 DunnCox
	 48 Duke Street
	 Kingston, Jamaica

	 Samuda & Johnson
	 2-6 Grenada Crescent
	 Kingston 5, Jamaica

Bankers:	 Citibank N.A. Jamaica 
	 19 Hillcrest Avenue
	 Kingston 6, Jamaica

	 CIBC First Caribbean International Bank 
	 23-27 Knutsford Boulevard
	 Kingston 5

	 First Global Bank
	 24-48 Barbados Avenue
	 Kingston 5

	 National Commercial Bank Jamaica Limited
	 1-7 Knutsford Boulevard
	 Kingston 5, Jamaica

	 Sagicor Bank
	 17 Dominica Drive
	 Kingston 5, Jamaica

Registrar and Transfer Agents:	 Jamaica Central Securities Depository Limited
	 40 Harbour Street
	 Kingston, Jamaica
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CONTACT

INFORMATION
INDUSTRIAL SALES LIMITED
3 Felix Fox Boulevard, Kingston 
Tel:  	 (876) 922-1220
Fax: 	(876) 757-9449
	 (876) 923-6722

SERGE ISLAND FARMS LIMITED
3 Felix Fox Boulevard, Kingston 
Tel: (876) 922-1220

Dairy Farm 
Seaforth, St. Thomas 
Tel:   (876) 706-5844-6
Fax: (876) 706-5843

INTERNATIONAL BISCUITS LIMITED 
3 Felix Fox Boulevard, Kingston 
Tel: (876) 922-1220

Manufacturing Plant
2e Valentine Drive
P.O. Box 453
Kingston 19
Tel: (876) 925-9418

CARIBBEAN PRODUCTS
COMPANY LIMITED
3 Felix Fox Boulevard
Kingston 
Tel: (876) 922-1220

Manufacturing Plant
228 Spanish Town Road
Kingston 11
Tel: 		 (876) 923-0125-8
		  (876) 923-6516-8
		  (876) 937-3372
Fax:	 (876) 923-4043

GOLDEN GROVE SUGAR COMPANY LTD.
3 Felix Fox Boulevard, Kingston 
Tel: (876) 922-1220

JAMAICA GRAIN & CEREALS LIMITED
3 Felix Fox Boulevard, Kingston 
Tel:  	 (876) 922-1220
Fax: 	(876) 967-7479

MUSSON DAIRIES LIMITED
T/A SERGE DAIRIES
3 Felix Fox Boulevard, Kingston 
Tel: (876) 922-1220

Manufacturing Plant
Bybrook, Bog Walk, St. Catherine
Tel: (876) 985-1479-83
	

FACEY COMMODITY
COMPANY LIMITED 
109 Marcus Garvey Drive 
Kingston 13

Merchandise Division
61 Newport Boulevard 
Kingston 13
Tel: 	 (876) 923-9221
Fax: (876) 901-6815
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 SHAREHOLDERS’

PROFILE
 AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2019

* -Connected Persons: Paul B. Scott, Melanie M. Subratie

TEN LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS 

SHAREHOLDINGS OF DIRECTORS ALONG WITH THEIR CONNECTED PERSONS 

1.	 Musson (Jamaica) Limited	  * 233,747,988

2.	 Coconut Industry Board	 163,420,345

3.	 JCSD Trustee Services Limited – Facey Group Limited *125,234,043

4.	 Grace Kennedy Limited Pension Scheme	 21,955,904 

5.	 National Insurance Fund 15,443,045

6.	 Scotia Jamaica Investment Management – A/C 3119 9,074,455

7.	 ATL Group Pension Fund Trustee Nominee Limited 6,424,347

8.	 VM Wealth Equity Fund 5,786,571

9.	 NCB Insurance Company Limited - A/C 109 5,648,346

10.	 Richard R. Pandohie 3,959,381

1.	 Paul B. Scott NIL

	 Shareholding of connected persons 358,982,031

2.	 Melanie M. Subratie NIL

       Shareholding of connected persons  358,982,031

3.	 Byron E. Thompson  1,220,668

4.	 Richard R. Pandohie 3,959,381

5.	 Nicholas A. Scott NIL

	 Shareholding of connected persons 1,206,768 

6.	 Hugh Gentles NIL

      Shareholding of connected person 500,000

7.	 Peter J. Thwaites 5,000

8.	 Michael J. Subratie NIL

9.	 Christopher Gentles	 NIL

10.	 Patrick Scott  3,000,000

11.	 Nicholas Jones NIL
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SHAREHOLDINGS OF MANAGEMENT

1.	 Marilyn Anderson 25,000

2.	 Carol Andrade 13,000

3.	 Dr. Gavin Bellamy 41,600

4.	 Angela Cooper 38,854

5.	 Damion Dodd  300,000

6.	 Roger Drinkall 200,000 
7.	 Chana Hay 1,375,500

8.	 Tricia Hill NIL

9.	 Kerrian Johnson 25,000

11.	 Efrain Lara  NIL

12.	 Roger Lewis 75,300

13.  Milton Maragh  NIL

14.  Jeffrey Moss-Solomon 201,900

15.  Richard Pandohie 3,959,381

16.  Patrick Scott  3,000,000

17.  Dr. Patrick Sterling  20,700

18.  Dave Virtue NIL

19.  Amanda Watson  460,000



� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

7 S E P R O D  2 0 1 9  A N N U A L  R E P O R T



� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

8S E P R O D  2 0 1 9  A N N U A L  R E P O R T

“We are
helping in our 
communities”
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 CHAIRMAN’S

REPORT

P.B. Scott
Chairman

2019 was another transfor-
mative year for Seprod. While 
our net operating profit was 
flat (after $730m of losses 
from the sugar operations 
and closure) our sales grew 
by over 45%. We expect that 
we will continue to build on 
this momentum into 2020.
During the year our sugar manufacturing 
operations were finally closed. It is regretted 
that we were not successful in sugar 
manufacturing given the potential of that 
business. 

However, after more than a decade of 
articulating necessary changes to the 
industry, it still taxes exports to fund an 
expensive regulatory structure. It has 
failed to develop an energy strategy 
to be incorporated into the national 
requirements. The price of Jamaican 
molasses which is the essense of 
Jamaican rum is still at a discount rather 
than the premium it deserves and the 
deregulation of the sales agency model 
came several years too late. As a result 
the national production of sugar is less 
than 30% of what it was even ten years 
ago. Given the compounded investment 
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that this country has made in the sugar industry one 
must hope that policies will be put in place to correct 
this decline. We will not benefit as we have exited the 
manufacturing of sugar but we hope such changes will 
help Jamaica. 

We merged our two dairy processing operations (Serge 
Island and MIDL) in 2019 to become “Serge Dairies.” This 
has resulted in a best in class facility that has significant 
volumes driving the profitability of the business. The 
decision to close an operation is never easy especially 
when combined with the effects of other closures in 
the parish of St. Thomas. However, the closure was a 
necessary decision which will yield material positive 
results for Seprod. The dairy operations of Seprod are 
building a strong export business in co-packing of 
products as well as the sales of our brands (Swizzzle, 
Cool Fruit, Betty and Supligen). We look forward to the 
continued growth of exports in the years to come driven 
by the improved competitiveness of that business arising
out of the actions taken in consolidating of the plants in 
2019.

Key to Seprod’s success is great distribution. We have 
a number of key partners who work with us to deliver 
our products to their end users. We appreciate their 
commitment to partner with us and we look forward 
to continuing to work with them in the future. Our own 
distribution companies Facey Commodity Company and 
Industrial Sales performed to expectation during the 
year. 

In the upcoming year we will commence the building 
of a central distribution facility at the Seprod complex. 
This new modern distribution center will improve our 
operations materially and will deliver significantly more 
capacity for the businesses to grow while reducing costs 
through efficiency improvements.

Our joint venture with Seaboard Corporation, Jamaica 
Grain and Cereals Limited continues to develop and 
2019 saw increased volumes and partnerships with the 
baking trade in Jamaica and throughout the Caribbean. 
We are excited about the prospects of this joint venture.

I would like to thank the board, management and the 
employees of the company for all the hard work they put 
into Seprod in 2019. 20% of the employees own stock in 
Seprod. I am sure they are pleased with their investment 
over the last year. Given where the company is today, I 
know they will be elated in the future.

 20%
OF EMPLOYEES OWN

STOCK IN SEPROD

...................................................
P.B. Scott
CHAIRMAN

KEY TO SEPROD’S 
SUCCESS IS GREAT 

DISTRIBUTION



Mr. P.B. Scott is the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer 
(CEO) and principal shareholder of the Musson Group. 
He joined the group in 1994 and became CEO in 2004. 
In 2009 he was appointed Chairman of the Board. He 
is responsible for the strategic direction, performance 
and overall operations of the Musson Group and all its 
subsidiaries, including Facey Group Limited, PBS Group, 
Seprod Limited, T. Geddes Grant Distributors Limited, 
General Accident Insurance Company Limited among 
others. In addition to his responsibilities at Musson, 
he served on several public boards and commissions. 
He is a Trustee of the American International School of 
Jamaica and is currently Chairman of the Development 
Bank of Jamaica (DBJ). He is a Past President of the 
Private Sector Organization of Jamaica. 

P. B. SCOTT 
CHAIRMAN

BOARD OF

DIRECTORS

11

LEADERSHIP
IS THE CAPACITY TO
TRANSLATE
VISION INTO

REALITY.
- Warren Bennis



Mr. Pandohie has been the Chief Executive Officer and 
Managing Director of Seprod Limited since January, 
2015. He has held managerial positions in several 
corporations in the Caribbean and Central America. 
He has been the Deputy President of the Jamaica 
Manufacturers Association, now JMEA, and has been 
its President since 2019. He is also a director of Red 
Stripe Limited since 2016. He holds an MBA in Corporate 
Finance and Operations Management from the McGill 
University and a BSc in Chemical Engineering from The 
University of the West Indies.

RICHARD R. PANDOHIE, JP 
CEO/MANAGING DIRECTOR

Mr. Thwaites is a retired Insurance Executive, a 
Past President of the Private Sector Organisation of 
Jamaica and a past Chairman of the Electoral Advisory 
Committee, now the Electoral Commission of Jamaica. 
He is a Director of Facey Commodity Company Limited, 
Crime Stop Jamaica, Thwaites Finson Sharp Insurance 
Brokers, Guardian General Insurance Jamaica, a 
subsidiary of Guardian Holdings of Trinidad and Tobago, 
and Rototech International Limited.

PETER J. THWAITES
VICE CHAIRMAN
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Mr. Thompson is a former Chief Executive Officer and 
Managing Director of the Seprod Group of Companies. 
He also sits on the board of Seprod’s subsidiaries 
and Audit Committee. He is also a director of Eppley 
Limited and the Salvation Army Advisory Board and a 
council member of the Bureau of Standards. He holds a 
Bachelor’s Degree in Chemistry and Geology from the 
University of the West Indies and an MBA from Barry 
University, Florida, USA.

BYRON E. THOMPSON, JP, MBA 
DIRECTOR

Mrs. Subratie is Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
(CEO) of Stanley Motta Ltd., Vice Chairman of Musson 
(Ja) Ltd. and Director of all its subsidiaries. She is Vice 
Chairman of General Accident Insurance Company 
Limited, Eppley Limited and T. Geddes Grant Limited. 
She is also Chairman of E-Pins Limited and sits on 
the Board of Seprod Limited and its subsidiaries. Mrs. 
Subratie is also Chairman of the Seprod Foundation, 
Musson Foundation, Jamaica Girls Coding and RISE 
Life Management Services. She is also Fourth Vice 
President of the Jamaica Chamber of Commerce and 
is the current Chair of the Legislation, Regulation and 
Improvement Committee. She is an honors graduate of 
London School of Economics. 

MELANIE M. SUBRATIE, BSC. (HONS.)
DIRECTOR
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B O A R D  O F  D I R E C T O R S

Christopher Gentles was appointed a director of the 
Seprod Board in April 2016. He is the Chairman of the 
Coconut Industry Board and is currently employed 
to the Spirits Pool Association, and its subsidiary 
Caribbean Molasses Company Jamaica Ltd. as General 
Manager. He was the former General Manager-Farm 
Operations of JP Tropical Foods Ltd., former Group 
Produce Manager for SuperPlus Food Stores and 
the former Director General of the Coffee Industry 
Board of Jamaica. In addition, Christopher served as 
President of Promecafe, the regional organization 
that promotes the development of the culture of 
coffee cultivation, and marketing within seven Latin 
American and Caribbean countries. He has undertaken 
training programmes in Irrigation and Extension from 
the Ruppin Institute in Israel, and has completed 
courses in merchandizing from Kellog’s Business 
School, University of Michigan. He holds a Global
MBA from the Manchester Business School in the 
United Kingdom as well as a Bachelor’s degree in 
Agronomy from UWI, St. Augustine, Trinidad.

CHRISTOPHER GENTLES
DIRECTOR

Mr. Nicholas Scott is the Chief Investment Officer 
of the Musson Group and serves as a director of 
most of its subsidiaries and affiliates. He is also the 
Managing Director of Eppley Limited and the Chairman 
of the Eppley Caribbean Property Fund Limited 
SCC. Mr. Scott is the Chairman of the Student Loan 
Bureau and a former Vice-President of the Private 
Sector Organisation of Jamaica. He holds a B.Sc. in 
Economics from the Wharton School at the University 
of Pennsylvania, an M.B.A from Columbia Business 
School and an M.P.A. from the Harvard Kennedy 
School of Government.

NICHOLAS A. SCOTT 
DIRECTOR
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Patrick A. W Scott is the Chairman and Chief Executive 
Officer of Facey Commodity Company Limited and 
the Executive Deputy Chairman of the Facey Group. 
Prior to these appointments, he served as Managing 
Director and as a director of the company. A seasoned 
executive, Mr. Scott also sits on the main boards of 
the Musson Group and was a key figure in the global 
development of Facey’s Telecom business. During 
his tenure as General Manager of the Pharmaceutical 
Division of Facey Commodity Company Limited, he 
was instrumental in its strong and rapid growth. 
Marketing- trained, he attended Seneca College and 
Ryerson University in Toronto, Canada.

PATRICK SCOTT
DIRECTOR

Appointed Director in 2016, Mr. Hugh Gentles is a 
graduate of York University, Toronto, Canada. He is 
the owner of Glastonbury Farm and Founder/Manager 
of Glastonbury Purveyor Company Ltd. Mr. Gentles 
has served on several national boards including Rural 
Agricultural Development Authority (RADA), Banana 
Export Company (BECO) and Correctional Services 
Production Company(COSPROD). He currently sits 
on the Coconut Industry Board and is also a founding 
member and current Chairman of Potato & Onion 
Producers Association of Jamaica (POPA).

HUGH GENTLES, JP, B.A. 
DIRECTOR
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Mr. Michael Subratie is the Managing Director of
T. Geddes Grant (Distributors) Limited as well as the 
Chief Operating Officer and a director of the Musson 
Jamaica Limited in charge of Musson’s manufacturing 
and trading business entities. He has served on several 
government boards including the Urban Development 
Corporation, Jamaica Urban Transit Company, Jamaica 
Railway Corporation, Montego Freeport Limited and
the former Pegasus Hotel. He also sits on the board 
of the American Chamber of Commerce, and is the
Honorary Consul of Bangladesh. In November, 2016, 
Michael was appointed Dean of The Consular Corps of 
Jamaica. In his capacity as Dean, Michael represents 
over 47 countries that do not have resident 
ambassadors in Jamaica. He is an active member of 
the Young Presidents’ Organization (YPO). He holds 
a Bachelor’s Degree in Civil Engineering with highest 
honor from Georgia Institute of Technology and a 
Master’s Degree in Structural Engineering from Purdue 
University. 

M.J. SUBRATIE, BCE, MSCE, EIT, JP
DIRECTOR

Mr. Nicholas Jones has been the Managing Director 
and Chairman of Fred M. Jones Estates Limited 
since 2013. He currently serves as a Director on the 
Coconut Industry Board and the Jamaica Agricultural 
Development Foundation. He formerly held the position 
of the Agricultural Director of the Jamaica Producers 
Group, the Managing Director of Montpelier Citrus 
Company and General Manager of Guardsman Ltd. Mr. 
Jones has a BSc in Agriculture from the University of 
Georgia in the USA and a MSC in Agricultural Science 
from Melbourne University in Australia. He has 
attended Advanced Management Programs at the 
University of the West Indies and the Wharton School 
at the University of Pennsylvania.

NICHOLAS JONES
DIRECTOR

16



17

Mr. Wynter is internationally recognized as a central 
banker and financial markets executive with a wide 
range of private and public sector experience in 
challenging environments. He was Governor of the 
Central Bank (Bank of Jamaica) during Jamaica’s 
historic turnaround, co-chair of the Economic 
Programme Oversight Committee, founding CEO 
of Jamaica’s Financial Services Commission and 
corporate finance head and country treasurer for 
Citibank Jamaica. Moving seamlessly between public 
and private sectors, his professional experience 
includes stints at the International Monetary Fund’s 
Caribbean Regional Technical Assistance Centre in 
Barbados and the capital markets and derivatives 
subsidiaries of Chase Manhattan and Schroders in 
New York City. He holds a BSc (Econ) from the London 
School of Economics and Political Science, a Diploma
in Law from The City University in London and a Masters 
in International Affairs from Columbia University 
School of International and Public Affairs in New York. 
He was called to the bar in England and Wales and in 
Jamaica.

BOARD OF

DIRECTORS
CONT’D
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THE STRENGTH
OF THE TEAM IS EACH
INDIVIDUAL MEMBER

THE STRENGTH
OF EACH MEMBER
IS THE TEAM.

 - Phil Jackson

BRIAN WYNTER, CD
DIRECTOR



DIRECTORS’

ATTENDANCE - 2019

 BOARD

SUB-COMMITTEES
•	 Mrs. M. M. Subratie
	 (Chairperson)

•	 Mr. B.E. Thompson 
•	 Mr. P. J. Thwaites
•	 Mr. N.A. Scott

•	 Mr. P.J. Thwaites
	 (Chairperson)

•	 Mr. P.B. Scott
•	 Mr. B.E. Thompson
•	 Mr. N.A. Scott

•	 Mr. P.B. Scott
	 (Chairperson)

•	 Mr. P.J. Thwaites
•	 Mr. B.E. Thompson
•	 Mr. R.R. Pandohie 
•	 Mrs. M. M. Subratie 
•	 Mr. P.A. Scott

•	 Mr. P.J. Thwaites 	
	 (Chairperson)

•	 Mr. N.A. Scott
•	 Mrs. M.M. Subratie

Number of Meetings

Paul Scott

Richard Pandohie

Peter Thwaites

Byron Thompson

Melanie Subratie

Patrick Scott

Michael Subratie

Nicholas Scott

Christopher Gentles

Hugh Gentles

Nicholas Jones 

12

12

12

12

12

8

11

11

11

10

11

10

12

12

12

12

12

8

11

11

11

10

11

10

3

2

3

3

2

4

4

2

1

1

1

1

1

1

Seprod Board Executive 
Committee

Audit
Committee

Superannuation 
Committee

Insurance
Committee

Audit Committee Insurance
Committee

Executive
Committee

Superannuation
Committee
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 AUDIT COMMITTEE

REPORT
 AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2019

OVERVIEW

The Audit Committee is established by the board as a sub-
committee and its powers are delegated by the board. 
The Audit Committee assists the board in fulfilling specific 
oversight responsibilities, which include the Seprod 
Group’s financial reporting, internal control systems, risk 
management systems and the internal and external audit 
functions. The board retains responsibility for decisions, 
performance and outcomes of the Audit Committee. 

AUDIT COMMITTEE MEMBERS AND ATTENDANCE

The Audit Committee meets quarterly and comprises four 
independent board members, inclusive of the chair, Mrs. 
Melanie Subratie. The table on page 18 shows the members’ 
attendance to these meetings. Audit Committee meetings 
are also attended by the Chief Executive Officer, Chief 
Financial Officer/Corporate Secretary and other members of 
senior management of the Seprod Group as relevant to the 
particular matters being discussed, as well as the internal 
and external auditors. The Committee also meets quarterly 
with the internal and external auditors without any member 
of the management team present, in order for the Committee 
members to have a discussion about any matters of 
significance that arose during the audit processes.

ACTIVITIES OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The main objectives of the Committee include assisting 
the board to discharge its responsibility in relation to the 
following areas:
•	 Reporting of financial information;
•	 Application of accounting policies;
•	 Review of internal control systems and procedures;
•	 Adequacy of risk management procedures and practices;
•	 Propriety of business policies and practices;

•	 Compliance with applicable laws, regulations, standards 
	 and best practice guidelines;
•	 Formal forum for communication between the board and 
	 senior management;
•	 Communication between the board and the internal and 
	 external auditors;
•	 Facilitating the maintenance of the independence of the 
	 external auditor;
•	 Providing a structured reporting line for internal audit 
	 and facilitating the independence of the internal auditor; 
	 and
•	 Consideration of significant matters that were raised 
	 during the audit processes.

The Audit Committee effectively carried out these objectives 
during and in respect of the year ended 31 December 2019. In 
particular, the Committee:

•	 assessed and approved the scopes of the internal and 
	 external audit plans;
•	 reviewed internal audit reports and assessed 
	 management’s responses and actions with respect to 
	 the finding and the recommendations made;
•	 reviewed management letters from external auditors
	 and assessed management’s responses and actions 
	 with respect to the finding and the recommendations 
	 made; and
•	 reviewed and recommended board approval for the 
	 unaudited quarterly financial reports and the annual 
	 audited financial statements.

.............................................
Melanie M. Subratie
CHAIRPERSON
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“We are
producing locally
to ensure our food 

chain security”
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 MANAGEMENT  PROFILE CONT’D
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The safety of 
our team and our 

products have 
always been our
highest priority.
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CERTIFICATION ACHIEVED

As at December 13th 2019, all our manufacturing centers at 
Seprod have been certified with Food Safety System Certification 
- FSSC 22000 v4.1 As a result our facilities are internationally 
recognized as having a management system in place that can 
effectively and consistently provide safe food for our consumers.

BUILDING CONSUMER CONFIDENCE  
Our certification also signifies our respect for the food safety 
laws and regulations of all the countries to which we are desirous 
of exporting thus affording us a competitive advantage in this 
area. As the certification is GFSI recognized large retail chains 
within the developed countries can now carry all our brands 
among their inventory. 

INCREASING MARKET OPPORTUNITIES
Having an internationally recognized food safety system also 
allows us to have more co-manufacturing opportunities with large 
international brands. While this helps our revenue generation it 
also provides added jobs for our fellow Jamaicans.
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Richard R. Pandohie
 CEO/Managing Director
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 MANAGEMENT

DISCUSSION
& ANALYSIS 
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Richard R. Pandohie
 CEO/Managing Director
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Dear Shareholders, Associates and Customers,

Thank you for your confidence and support of the Seprod Group. As a team, we have worked hard to bring 
value to you. 2019 was a pivotal year for the organization, as we executed several major projects that have 
transformed the company and set us on a path of sustainable and resilient growth.

Seprod’s performance must be taken in the context of significant one-time costs to close the sugar factory and to 
execute the consolidation of our dairy factories. Both of these projects had a high price tag, but they will result in the 
elimination of the continuous losses and cash burn of the sugar operation and will create a best in class dairy operation 
which will enhance our competitiveness and put us on a firm footing to grow our export business.

2019 was the first full year of our expanded distribution footprint through the acquisition of the Facey Consumer 
Division. It is still early days but the synergies that will be unlocked in the future will bring tremendous value to the 
business, our customers and consumers.

With Seprod now having three firm pillars – Dairy, Distribution, and Ingredients – it is our expectation that revenue and 
profitability will rise steadily, driven by expanded domestic and international growth.

Over the last few years, we doubled down on equipment investment and retooling, but now our focus will shift to 
our distribution, warehousing and logistics efforts. This area is the lifeblood of the organization, connecting our 
factories’ production and the amazing brands of our partners to our consumers and customers. We will be spending a 
tremendous amount of money to consolidate our warehousing operations and create a distribution organization that 
will be cost competitive and have superior customer focus. The project commenced in 2019 with the first warehouse 
completed and Industrial Sales Limited (one of our distribution companies) being relocated to Felix Fox Boulevard. The 
other warehouses will commence in 2020 and will be supported by an expanded distribution fleet.

Revenue

Operating profit

Net profit from continuing operations

Loss from discontinued operations

Net profit

Total assets

Total equity

2019 ($)

$32.7b

$2.8b

$1.7b

($0.7b)

$1.0b

$36.5b 

$15.0b

2018 ($)

$22.5b

$2.5b

$1.4b

($0.3b)

$1.1b

$35.3b 

$14.7b

Change ($)

$10.2b

$320m

$333m

($422m)

($89m)

$1.2b

$224m 

Change (%)

45%

13%

24% 

(136%)

(8%)

3% 

2% 

The table below summarizes some of our key financial indicators:
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With more than 1,750 persons employed directly by the Group, we are fully aware of the critical role that our people play 
in ensuring our success. Jamaica’s labour productivity has been abysmally poor for many decades and this has been 
a major deterrent to creating a competitive manufacturing environment. Your team at Seprod is intent on changing 
this by attracting and motivating people with the right attitude, qualification and desire to be a part of a journey that 
is truly exciting. 

2020 and Beyond

The Pandemic COVID-19 is truly reshaping our world and the way we do business. Whilst there are many unknowns,
it is the intent of your management to deliver strong revenue and operating profit growth by:

•	 Exciting innovations in all our operations. 

•	 Driving distribution synergies to improve our efficiencies, distribution footprint and gain more control of the 
	 supply chain from factory to retail shelves. 

•	 Continuing to look for acquisition opportunities and partnerships (locally and internationally) that will be value 
	 enhancing.

•	 Expanding our exports which we hope to grow by 25 % each year 

•	 Attracting and investing in talented people with a can-do attitude. 

•	 Expand our contract manufacturing opportunities. 

•	 Investing in charitable activities, through the Seprod Foundation, to bring value to the wider population.

Team Seprod is fully engaged and is confident that we will continue to unlock our full potential to deliver shareholder 
value and be a key player in the renaissance of the Jamaican productive sector. 

I want to thank Chairman PB Scott and the Board for their unwavering support and guidance. My five years with the 
company have literally flown by and I am still as excited today as I was when I started this journey.

On behalf of all the employees of Seprod, I want to thank you for your continued confidence in our company. 

Best Regards,
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....................................................
Richard R. Pandohie, JP
CEO/MANAGING DIRECTOR
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Note that revenue, operating profit and earnings per share are in respect of continuing operations.
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SEPROD THROUGH        THE YEARS

Jamaica Chamber of Commerce 
(JCC) 31st Annual Awards 
Ceremony, held at the Jamaica 
Pegasus Hotel, New Kingston 
on Thursday night March 21, 
2013. Here are Brian Pengelley 
(left), of Red Stripe; Francis 
Kennedy (centre), President, 
JCC; and Karl Domville (right), of 
Seprod Limited which who won 
the Best of Chamber Large 
Enterprise.

Seprod Group host Cocktail 
Reception for Byron Thompson, 
held at Terra Nova All-Suite 
Hotel, Waterloo Road on Tuesday 
night February 10, 2015.

Mrs. Hector Wynter (left) 
makes the presentation to 
Seprod's captain Abraham 
Genus at the annual presenta-
tion function of the Henriques 
Cricket Board held at the 
Pegasus Hotel in March. 
Seprod retired the cup by 
virtue of winning it three 
times: 1982, 1983 and 1985.

Ian Andrews (right), Aministra-
tive Director of INSPORTS and 
Carl Domville, (left) chief 
operating officer of the Seprod 
Group look on as Naggo Head 
Primary athletes celebrate their 
fourth title .

Members of the Seprod Baseball 
aggregation which successfully 
captured all three trophies in the 
Jamaica Baseball Association, 
Morin, Underwood, and Meeks 
All-Island competitions. 

Members of the Seprod cricket 
team holding individual prizes 
awarded to them for their 
successful participation in the 
1974 Austin Knock-out Cup 
competition. 

A worker in the Soap Depart-
ment of Seprod Limited is 
seen feeding the machine with 
soap at the Plant on Darling 
Street.

Some members of the Seprod 
cricket team which achieved the 
double in the cricket competi-
tions run by the Henriques 
Cricket Board. Seprod took the 
first lien on the new Henriques 
Trophy and also won the Austin 
Knock-Out Cup.

1969
BASEBALL TRIPLE

CHAMPIONS

1975
THE WINNING TEAM

1977
SOAP IN THE MAKING

1983
REWARDS FOR THE

DOUBLE CHAMPIONS

1986
HENRIQUES CRICKET
CUP PRESENTATION

2012
FOURTH TITLE
CELEBRATION

2013
JCC 31ST AWARD

CEREMONY

2015
PUBLIC AFFAIRS DESK
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JMEA Awards 2019 
Seprod Limited continued our winning ways when we copped the coveted JMEA 
Legacy Award at the annual JMEA Awards ceremony. The Legacy Award is given 
to a company that has shown exemplary commitment to Manufacturing and 
Export in Jamaica for over 25 years and has truly impacted the socio-economic 
position of our people.

RECIPIENT OF THE JMEA LEGACY AWARD

33
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“Providing 
nutritious and 
affordable food 

makes us
happy.”
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MARKETING 
REPORT
Fulfilling our promise of excellence, the Seprod 
Group continued to excel through our brands 
and in our communities. With key focus on our 
three strategic pillars - Dairy, Ingredients and 
Distribution - the brands engaged the community 
at large through continued emphasis on quality, 
availability and engagement.

GOLD SEAL 
FLOUR
GOLD SEAL’S BEST BUNS 
COMPETITION
Our Gold Seal Best Buns Competition created 
waves for a second year in a row on April 4, 2019. 
Since its introduction in 2018, the competition 
has expanded and offered even more significant 
rewards for the participants at the University of 
Technology, Jamaica School of Hospitality and 
Tourism. 2019 offered the students prizes of 
up to $250,000 towards their tuition while they 
showed off their culinary skills in a bun making 
competition using Gold Seal flour.
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GOLD SEAL’S FESTIVAL OF FESTIVALS
The Festival of Festivals was held on Easter Sunday at Hellshire Beach. We highlighted the special skills of our local 
food vendors at Hellshire Beach in a spectacular display. With over 50 entrants, the competition brought out the best 
of our local culinary artisans.

Othneil Edwards won our second-place prize of $50,000

Danielle walked away with the third place prize 
of $25,000
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GOLD SEAL BAKING SEMINAR
We continued to honour our commitment to our baking community through service and quality by hosting the first 
ever Gold Seal Baking Seminar on October 23rd and 24th at The Liguanea Club. The event saw over 50 attendees from 
across the island learning baking techniques and technical elements of the craft. Presenters included Blake Hutzley 
from the US Wheat Associates. Below are highlights:
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The third staging of the Betty Porridge Cook-Off was an epic one showcasing Jamaica’s premiere comedians as the 
contestants. Each comedian pledged to donate 50% of his/her winnings to a charity of their choice. Held at the HWT 
Transport Centre, the crowd was entertained with comedic antics and were provided with samples of porridge dishes 
made with our own Betty condensed and evaporated milks and Miracle cornmeal. 

BETTY
BETTY PORRIDGE COOK OFF
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Betty Porridge Cook Off
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GUARDSMAN GAMES 
Team SUPLIGEN made history at the @guardsmangames! A triple threat!
#TeamVikings #TeamTroopers #TeamSpartans #GuardsmanGames #BoostsYouUp 
#Winners #Finale2019

SUPLIGEN IN THE CARIBBEAN
JAMAICA

WARRIORS BARBADOS ADVENTURE RACE 2019
The Barbados Adventure Race is an Obstacle Race that we are very proud to be a 
part of. The Adventure Race is held in June and also November. In the June 2019 

leg, four Supligen teams competed in the Corporate Obstacle race. Supligen teams claimed all top 3 winning spots. We 
also carried out sampling of the delicious Supligen flavours (at the event) for the athletes and spectators .

BARBADOS
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AWAKEN BREAKFAST PARTY
During Crop Over 2019 we particpated 
in the Awaken Breakfast party, giving 
patrons the opportunity to sample our 
delicious Seamoss Flavor Supligen and 
the crowd favourite Vanilla. 

TRADE & INVESTMENT CONVENTION (TIC) TRINIDAD & TOBAGO 2019 
The Trade and Investment Convention (TIC) is hosted by the Trinidad and Tobago 
Manufacturers Association (TTMA). Their mandate is to foster intra and extra regional 

trade for regional businesses. TIC has partnerships rooted in the Americas, Trinidad and Tobago, the region’s financial 
capital and the largest economy in the Caribbean. With strong links to Central and South American companies and 
businesses from around the globe, (TIC) does business with over 35 countries. Our Seprod team was front and centre 
to showcase the best of Jamaican manufacturing at this event.

TRINIDAD

CEO Richard Pandohie greets Minister of Trade and Industry Paula 
Gopee-Scoon (left) and head of the TTMA, Franka Costelloe, at our 
booth. #tradeandinvestmentconvention #Trinidad
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Seprod Limited has been operating in the Dominican Republic since 2016 
as Musson International Dairies Dominican Republic, for the sale of Supligen 
through our distributor United Brands. The first shipment of Supligen was sent in 
December 2016 and is now sold in over 8,000 outlets (major supermarket chains, 
wholesales and colmados) across the country.

We continue to expand our distribution footprint throughout the country in all channels and to increase visibility of our 
products in the Dominican trade.

DOMINICAN
REPUBLIC

Supermercado Jumbo Promotions Activity at Grupo Ramos Oficinas Corporativas in Santo 
Domingo

Supligen product sampling at Dominican Weightlifting competition Supligen product sampling in Haiti 
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“We are increasing 
production to keep 
the country fed.”
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Prime Minister Andrew Holness officially launched the consolidation of SEPROD’s dairy operations into SERGE DAIRIES, 
representing the culmination of a $J7 billion investment over the last five years. The entities being merged are the 
Serge Island Dairy processing plant in Seaforth, St. Thomas and the former Nestle Dairy processing plant in Bogwalk, St. 
Catherine. The strategic multibillion dollar investment cements SEPROD as the largest food manufacturer in Jamaica and 
positions the company to grow the dairy business exponentially through innovation and exports fueled by aggressive 
growth targets. 

DAIRY CONSOLIDATION 
SERGE DAIRIES

EVENTS
45
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Dairy Consolidation: Serge Dairies

Prime Minister the Most Honourable Andrew Holness, makes his 
presentation as guest speaker at the Dairy consolidation launch 
in May 2019

L-R: Susan Scott, Paul Scott, Chairman of Seprod, Prime Minister 
Andrew Holness, MP Natalie Neita-Headley and CEO Richard 
Pandohie at the ribbon cutting ceremony declaring the newly 
consolidated dairy operations open

CEO Richard Pandohie makes his remarks flanked by members of 
the Serge Dairies Team

Commercial Manager, Tiffany Graham, leads the delegation on 
the tour of the newly consolidated factory
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DENBIGH 2019
Seprod once again participated in fine style at the 67th Denbigh Agricultural Show under the theme, “Grow What We Eat...
Eat What We Grow”. This year, Team Seprod marked a decade of success by taking home 4 awards for Serge Island Farms 
while displaing the company’s offerings to patrons in a fun and delightful atmosphere. Once again we demonstrated that 
we are “Seprod Strong”.
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For the fifth year in a row, 
Serge Monster Milk and Miracle 
Ketchup were key sponsors 
of Pan 2019. The Monster Milk 
Kiddie’s Village served up fun 
and nutrition to thousands of 
children and our Miracle ketchup 
booth served up delicious treats 
to all the patrons.

Seprod continued its support as a sponsor of The Gleaner’s Children’s Own Spelling Bee Competition held on February 
5-8, 2019. The Gleaner hosted the Spelling Bee group of fourteen (14) students and fourteen (14) coaches at The 
Jamaica Pegasus Hotel where the All-Island Championship was held. The winner will represent Jamaica in the USA 
at The Scripps National Spelling Bee Championships. Serge Monster Milk was an official sponsor and showcased its 
products and donated to the 14 schools across the island.

PAN 2019

Congratulations to the #Pan2019 Sauce Boss Champions!! 
First place winner Jodi-Ann Huie, Second place winner Denroy Bloomfield, Third place winner Charmaine 
Pryce. Our challenge winner walked away with a #Miracle gift basket, 4 bottles of Miracle ketchup and a 
bag courtesy of @cbchicken. But you’ll never know what to expect when you hear it’s a Miracle challenge!

SPELLING BEE

MAJOR SPONSORSHIP

The entrants of the Spelling Bee competition from 14 schools 
across the island.

Kadian Dennie, Junior Brand Manager of Facey Commodity 
presents a Serge Monster Milk basket to one of the Principals.
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DANCING DYNAMITES 
The Supligen brand was pleased to once again bring the energy to the high impact Dancing Dynamites Talent Show. 
Staying true to its tagline, the brand used the opportunity to “bring the energy” every week, giving these talented 
performers an extra boost of vitality. We also used the opportunity to engage with the dedicated choreographers 
and coaches through its Choreography Zone. This zone saw the choreographers of the top team for the week walking 
away with not only an attractive cash prize, but also Supligen gift baskets. It was truly a “Mad ‘n’ Mean” Season 14 for 
Supligen and Dancing Dynamites.

49
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JAMAICA INTERNATIONAL EXHIBITION (JIE)

Richard Pandohie (left), His Worship The Mayor, Councillor Homer Davis - Mayor of 
Montego Bay, and Metry Seaga visit the booth 

Homer Davis, Amanda Watson, Kerrian Johnson and 
Richard Pandohie

The Jamaica International Exhibition (JIE) is a biennial multi-sectoral tradeshow held at the Montego Bay Convention 
Centre, Rose Hall, St. James. This one-of-a-kind event, was staged for the second time (Thursday, May 30 – Saturday, 
June 1, 2019) by the Jamaica Manufacturers’ and Exporters’ Association (JMEA). It was attended by over 150 buyers 
and suppliers from within the Caribbean, South America, Canada, the USA, United Kingdom and other parts of Europe.

Seprod Limited showcased our wide range of products at this event
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Locally distributed brand, EVE®, fills tummies and minds on Read Across 
Jamaica Day in May 2019. Students from the Alpha Primary School are 
shown enjoying a meal provided by EVE® after a healthy reading session

General Manager of Facey Commodity, Mrs Chana Hay, reads to eager 
students of the Alpha Primary School on Read Across Jamaica Day 2019. 
Students in Grade 5 are fully engaged as Mrs Hay carefully takes them on 
an imaginative adventure! 

EVE AND BRUNSWICK OUT AND 
ABOUT AND GIVING BACK
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Students at the Glenmuir High School have a sample of Brunswick® 
Sardines after a ‘hearty’ Mental Health Talk with Brand Ambassador, Mrs 
Patrice White. Research has shown that healthy food choices directly 
affect your mood and mental health. 

Consumers are always asking about Brunswick’s® innovation- we are 
more than Sardines! Our very able promoter, shares with an eager 
consumer right before he samples the popular Escovietched Sardines
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GROWING

EXPORTS
In 2019 Seprod continued its focus on export
growth and delivered a 20% increase in export
sales over 2018. This was driven primarily by 
exports to the Caribbean which grew 46% in 
2019. The largest contributors were Trinidad and 
Barbados as we increased exports of Gold Seal 
Flour. We also saw a 52% increase in exports of 
Supligen to Dominican Republic. Exports to Canada 
grew 17% in 2019 and exports to the US grew 6%. 

2019 EXPORT HIGHLIGHTS 



The Le ga cy  C ontinuesThe Le ga cy  C ontinues

The Le ga cy  C ontinuesThe Le ga cy  C ontinues

The Le ga cy  C ontinuesThe Le ga cy  C ontinues The Le ga cy  C ontinuesThe Le ga cy  C ontinues

� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

53 54S E P R O D  2 0 1 9  A N N U A L  R E P O R T S E P R O D  2 0 1 9  A N N U A L  R E P O R T



S E P R O D  2 0 1 9  A N N U A L  R E P O R T

� � � � � � � � � � � � � �

55 S E P R O D  2 0 1 9  A N N U A L  R E P O R T

“We are changing lives 
and supporting dreams 

through the Seprod 
Foundation.”
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SEPROD

FOUNDATION

SCHOLARSHIP AWARDS
PEP SCHOLARS

The 2019 Seprod Foundation Scholarship Awards – the Champions of Tomorrow - saw 39 new scholarships and 68 
continuing scholarships awarded to Primary Exit Profile (PEP) students. The Granville Marsh Award was awarded to high 
performing students in St. Thomas for the second year in a row. The students were Kyle Mignott who is now attending 
Campion College and Yemisi Rose who is now attending Seaforth High School. This very special award was presented 
to the students by the family of the late Granville Marsh, Mrs. Claudette Marsh and Ms. Kerry Marsh. Campion College 
student, Jamia Williamson copped the Byron Thompson Award for Academic Achievement. 

Guest Speaker, Shani McGraham-Shirley, Founder of Yah Suh Fitbox, and Serge Brand Ambassador, motivated the 
students with a riveting talk about the value of hard work and owning their uniqueness, and successes. 

“Do not let anyone limit you, and definitely do not limit yourself; you are destined for greatness” 

– Shani McGraham-Shirley, Guest Speaker

The Seprod Foundation has been providing scholarships for over 30 years and more recently began to 
play a role in bringing innovative experiences to children in Jamaica. Major projects include the World Robot 
Olympiad, the Hour of Code, Jamaican Girls Coding, Scratch Day and professional development opportunities 
for teachers in technology. We have supported social interventions such as the National Youth Orchestra and 
Freedom Skatepark, providing opportunities for young people to engage with sport and music. We believe 
these investments in the human capital of Jamaica will not only inspire more careers in Science, Technology, 
Engineering, Arts and Mathematics, but also equip our country for a more rewarding future.
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AGRICULTURAL SCHOLARS

Seprod Foundation continues to support and encourage careers in the agricultural sector. At the tertiary level, five 
deserving students from the College of Agricultural Science and Education (CASE) were awarded scholarships to cover 
tuition for one year. In addition to the scholarship, these students were given the opportunity to intern with Seprod at 
Serge Island Dairy Farms, getting hands on experience in Jamaica’s growing agri-business industry. 

MICO MATH SUMMIT
The Mico Math Summit provided information to teachers and enhanced their effectiveness in light of the recent change 
under the Ministry of Education to an increased focus on critical thinking in the new, refined programme, the Primary 
Exit Profile (PEP). Over the 3-day summit, 87 primary schools, 72 secondary schools, and eight other institutions 
explored different methods of teaching Mathematics. Contributors from all over the world including New Zealand 
shared effective teaching methodologies with Jamaica. Participants were coached on effective strategies for diverse 
learners; the role of critical thinking in Math problem solving; as well as integrating Math with visual and performing 
arts. National policies for system-wide support for Math teaching and innovation were also discussed. The Seprod 
Foundation was proud to have been able to support this worthwhile initiative by facilitating the presence of many of 
the lecturers.
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MICO MATH SUMMIT CONT’D

BACK TO SCHOOL 

Seprod Foundation supported Youths For Excellence, an organization that tutors primary school children, and also 
provides them with free healthcare, school supplies and food items. The organization was founded by Jenine Shepherd, 
a promising, young college student. We happily sponsored their Back to School Initiative by providing students of 
Cockburn Primary School with goodie bags filled with food items and kid-	friendly treats to kick start the school year. 
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WORLD ROBOT OLYMPIAD
Seprod Foundation was the presenting sponsor for this exciting event for the second year. It was an honour to partner 
with Halls of Learning to make this event possible once again. This initiative is key in developing and strengthening 
the coding and robotics educational ecosystem in Jamaica. This year’s staging saw 22 participating schools across 
the Elementary and Junior Sections. Following the competition, the schools were allowed to keep their robotics kits 
allowing them to continue to practice, strengthen their skills and re-enter the competition year on year. St. Hugh’s 
Preparatory School, the winners of the elementary section, traveled to Gyor, Hungary to represent Jamaica at the 
International World Robot Olympiad. They definitely made us proud!
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HOUR OF CODE
Continuing our commitment to enhancing learning experiences within primary schools in Jamaica, Seprod Foundation 
in association with our partners, Halls of Learning, and the C.B. Facey Foundation executed 12 coding workshops 
in six primary schools across the corporate area during Computer Science Education Week. Jamaican students 
joined students from 180 other countries doing one hour of code. Through these workshops, close to 500 primary 
school students learned how much fun coding can be, while 10 teachers learned about the platform so that they
can continue to engage the students in coding. The children all enjoyed this innovative learning experience, and were 
left with an enhanced interest in technology and coding!

“Computer science, and specifically coding, is changing every industry globally. Introducing children to coding 
at the primary school level is important in sparking their interest, and laying the foundation for building on their 
STEM skills. We encourage the schools to continue to promote these coding activities, ultimately preparing our 
students to compete in the modern world.”

 – Melanie Subratie, Chairperson, Seprod Foundation
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SEAFORTH HIGH SCHOOL
The Seprod Foundation presented the Seaforth High School Visual Arts Department with six 25” fans. The donation was 
much appreciated after a fire destroyed the Visual Arts Department, inevitably destroying many of the students’ art 
pieces done in preparation for their CSEC exams. As a result, the students will need to re-do many of their pieces. The 
school was in the process of constructing an interim area for the students to work in over the summer, while plans 
for the renovation of the department were under way. Principal Thomas expressed the immediate need for fans for 
cooling the interim area. The fans would be transferred to the newly renovated department when complete.

Principal Thomas relayed his sincere gratitude on behalf of the department and the school – “These fans will make a 
huge difference to the students as they work to get their pieces complete over the summer. We are so grateful to the 
Seprod Foundation for their continued support and communication since the fire. It means a lot to all of us.” 

Seprod’s Internal Goverment Liaison, Dr. Gavin Bellamy, reiterated the commitment of the Seprod Foundation to the 
Seaforth High School and the Seaforth community “Seaforth High School is a part of our community. We have seen the 
passion and commitment displayed by the students after losing most of their work and we are so pleased we were able 
to step in and assist in filling this need,” Dr. Bellamy said. 
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ST. THOMAS BEACH CLEAN UP
The Foundation coordinated a beach clean up at the Rudolph Elder Park as part of the global efforts during 
the 2019 International Coastal Cleanup Day. ICC Day is recognised as the largest one-day volunteer event in
the world and aims to reduce the negative impact of oceanic waste while raising awareness about the dangers of 
improper waste management. St. Thomas holds much potential for growth and the Seprod Foundation is committed 
to doing our part to bring that to the forefront. The Seprod Foundation looks forward to continuing to work with
individuals, schools and communities in the parish on various educational and community driven initiatives.
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RISE LIFE MANAGEMENT
Seprod Foundation continues to support the very 
important work of RISE Life Management Services. 
RISE delivers community-based interventions 
in inner-city communities, with an emphasis 
on life management skills, employability and 
entrepreneurial training, human rights, HIV/AIDS 
prevention, sexual abuse prevention, and governance 
and capacity-building for civil society organisations 
islandwide. The organisation also offers employee 
assistance programmes, support for state wards in 
juvenile detention centres, sexual abuse prevention 
programmes for youth, as well as youth leadership 
training. Their programmes have cumulatively impacted over 160,000 adults and youths.

“We appreciate the commitment they have made to help us achieve our mission. In our field of work, it is important 
to have partners like the Seprod Foundation, which has remained consistent over the years and which can be 
counted on to provide help when it is needed.” 

 – Sonita Burrowes, Executive Director, RISE Life Management Services

JAMAICA NATIONAL CHILDREN’S HOME
The Seprod Foundation came to the aid of the nation’s children dislocated by a fire at the Jamaica National Children’s 
Home. Seprod Foundation along with the Seprod, ISL and Facey teams quickly mobilized to get a significant donation of 
food items and personal products together to assist the children and staff members in the immediate aftermath of the 
fire. The fire affected approximately 50 youngsters, and left behind massive damage. The children were temporarily 
rehoused while the facility was being rebuilt. Seprod Foundation met with the staff of the facility to make the donation 
and ensured that they felt supported in order to get through this difficult period. 
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PricewaterhouseCoopers, Scotiabank Centre, Duke Street, Box 372, Kingston, Jamaica 
T: (876) 922 6230,  F: 876) 922 7581, www.pwc.com/jm 
 
L.A. McKnight   P.E. Williams   B.L. Scott   B.J.Denning   G.A. Reece   P.A. Williams   R.S. Nathan   C.I. Bell-Wisdom   G.K.Moore   T.N. Smith DaSilva   K.D. Powell 

Independent auditor’s report  
To the Members of Seprod Limited 

Report on the audit of the consolidated and stand-alone financial 
statements  
Our opinion  
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements and the stand-alone financial statements give a true 
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of Seprod Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries 
(together ‘the Group’) and the stand-alone financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2019, and 
of their consolidated and stand-alone financial performance and their consolidated and stand-alone cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and 
with the requirements of the Jamaican Companies Act. 

What we have audited 
Seprod Limited’s consolidated and stand-alone financial statements comprise: 

• the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019; 

• the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended; 

• the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended; 

• the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; 

• the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019; 

• the statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended; 

• the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended; 

• the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and 

• the notes to the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements, which include significant 
accounting policies.  

Basis for opinion  
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit 
of the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements section of our report.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.  

Independence 
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for 
Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code). We have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. 
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Our audit approach 
Audit scope 
As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement 
in the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements. In particular, we considered where management 
made subjective judgements; for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved 
making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits, 
we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including, among other matters, 
consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement due 
to fraud. 
 
How we tailored our group audit scope  
We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion 
on the consolidated financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Group, the 
accounting processes and controls, and the industries in which the Group operates. 
 
The Group consists of 16 legal entities located in Jamaica, St. Lucia, Trinidad and Tobago and the 
Dominican Republic, each of which is considered as a component for the audit scoping purposes. The 
accounting records for 10 of the legal entities are maintained at the Group head office, the remaining 6 
entities’ accounting records are kept at other offices in Jamaica. All entities within the Group are audited 
by PwC Jamaica and full scope audits were performed for all components. 
 
Context 
Consistent with the prior year, our key audit matter relates to the valuation of unquoted equity securities 
as this continues to involve significant levels of judgement by management and expert knowledge. 
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Key audit matters  
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements of the current period. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements as a whole, 
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Valuation of unquoted equity securities 
(Group and stand-alone) 
Refer to notes 4 and 17 to the consolidated and 
stand-alone financial statements for 
disclosures of related accounting policies, 
judgements and estimates. 
 
Unquoted equity securities included within 
investments on the consolidated and stand-
alone statement of financial position total  
$1.5 billion as at 31 December 2019, which 
represents 4.0% and 5.6% of total assets of the 
Group and Company, respectively. 
 
The unquoted equity securities relate to an 
investment in an affiliated company over 
which Seprod Limited does not exercise 
significant influence. These securities are not 
quoted in an active market. The fair value of 
these securities is determined using a valuation 
model based on discounted future cash flows. 
 
The magnitude of the balance, the complexity 
of the valuation model used and the use of 
management determined assumptions led us 
to focus on this balance. In particular we 
focused on management’s judgements relating 
to the investee’s future cash flows, terminal 
growth rates, discount rates and market 
participant minority discount.  
 
Management used an independent valuation 
expert to assist in the valuation process. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
We updated our understanding and evaluated management’s 
future cash flow forecasts, and the process by which they 
were determined, including testing the underlying 
calculations and comparing them to the latest Board 
approved budgets of the investee.  
 
We compared prior management budgets to actual results of 
the investee to evaluate the accuracy of managements 
forecast process. 

 
We tested the reasonableness of management’s key 
assumptions as follows: 
 
• Compared long term growth rates in the forecasts to 

historical results and economic and industry forecasts. 

• Evaluated, with the assistance of our own valuation 
expert, management’s assumptions concerning the 
selected growth rates, terminal growth rates, discount 
rates and market participant minority discount by 
reference to industry data.  

• Compared the key assumptions to externally derived 
data, where possible, including market expectations of 
investment return, projected economic growth and 
interest rates.  

• Sensitised management’s planned growth rate in cash 
flows and changes in discount rates.  

 
As a result of our testing, no differences requiring 
adjustment were identified. 
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Other information  
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Annual Report 
(but does not include the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon), which is expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditor’s report.  

Our opinion on the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements does not cover the other 
information and we will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements, our responsibility 
is to read the other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated and stand-alone financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

When we read the Annual Report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are 
required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance. 

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the 
consolidated and stand-alone financial statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements 
that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS and with the requirements of the Jamaican 
Companies Act, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated and stand-alone financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements, management is responsible for 
assessing the Group and Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management 
either intends to liquidate the Group or the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative 
but to do so.  

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group and Company’s financial 
reporting process. 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated and stand-alone financial 
statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and stand-alone 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but 
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of these consolidated and stand-alone financial statements.  
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and stand-alone financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.  

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group and Company’s internal control.  

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management.  

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group or Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements or, 
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the Group or Company to cease to continue as a going concern.  

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated and stand-alone financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated and stand-alone financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion.  

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit.  

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards.  

  



The Le ga cy  C ontinuesThe Le ga cy  C ontinues

The Le ga cy  C ontinuesThe Le ga cy  C ontinues

The Le ga cy  C ontinuesThe Le ga cy  C ontinues The Le ga cy  C ontinuesThe Le ga cy  C ontinues

� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

72

 

 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements of the 
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report 
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication.  
 
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements  
As required by the Jamaican Companies Act, we have obtained all the information and explanations 
which, to the best of our knowledge and belief, were necessary for the purposes of our audit. 

In our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept, so far as appears from our examination of those 
records, and the accompanying consolidated and stand-alone financial statements are in agreement 
therewith and give the information required by the Jamaican Companies Act, in the manner so required. 
 
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Paul Williams.  
 
 
 
 
 
Chartered Accountants 
Kingston, Jamaica 
24 April 2020 
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Seprod Limited 

Year ended 31 December 2019 

 

 Note  2019 
$’000  2018 

$’000  
Revenue

Gross Profit 

Operating Profit 

Profit before Taxation

Net Profit from Continuing Operations 

Net Profit 
Other Comprehensive Income, net of taxes  
Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss –  

 
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss –  

 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

 
Net Profit from continuing operations is attributable to: 

 
 

 

Net Loss from discontinued operations is attributable to: 

 

Total Comprehensive Income is attributable to: 

 

Earnings per Stock Unit attributable to Stockholders of the Company 
 

 
 

SEPROD LIMITED
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year ended 31 December 2019
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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Seprod Limited 

31 December 2019 

 

 Note  2019 
$’000 

 2018 
$’000 

Non-current Assets 

Current Assets 

Current Liabilities 

Net Current Assets

Equity Attributable to Stockholders of the Company 
 

Non-controlling Interest 
 
Non-current Liabilities 

SEPROD LIMITED
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Year ended 31 December 2019
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)



The Le ga cy  C ontinuesThe Le ga cy  C ontinues

The Le ga cy  C ontinuesThe Le ga cy  C ontinues

The Le ga cy  C ontinuesThe Le ga cy  C ontinues The Le ga cy  C ontinuesThe Le ga cy  C ontinues

� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

75 76S E P R O D  2 0 1 9  A N N U A L  R E P O R T

Seprod Limited 

Year ended 31 December 2019 
 

 

 

Equity Attributable to Stockholders of the Company 

Non-
controlling 

Interest 
Total 

Equity 

Number of 
Shares  

Share 
Capital  

 Capital   
Reserve 

Retained 
Earnings Total   

 ‘000  $'000            $'000 $'000   $'000 $’000 $’000 

Balance at 1 January 2018 

 

 

 

 

Balance at 31 December 2018

 

Balance at 31 December 2019

SEPROD LIMITED
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Year ended 31 December 2019
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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Seprod Limited 

Year ended 31 December 2019 

 

 Note  2019 
$’000  2018 

$’000 
Cash Flows from Operating Activities 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 

SEPROD LIMITED
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended 31 December 2019
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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Seprod Limited 

Year ended 31 December 2019 

 

 Note  2019 
$’000  2018 

$’000 
  

Operating Profit/(Loss) 

Profit/(Loss) before Taxation

Net Profit/(Loss)
Other Comprehensive Income, net of taxes 
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss – 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

SEPROD LIMITED
Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year ended 31 December 2019
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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Seprod Limited 

31 December 2019 

 

 Note  2019 
$’000  2018 

$’000 
Non-current Assets 

Current Assets 

Current Liabilities 

Net Current Assets/(Liabilities)

Equity 
 

Non-current Liabilities 

 

SEPROD LIMITED
Statement of Financial Position
Year ended 31 December 2019
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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Seprod Limited 

Year ended 31 December 2019 

 

 
 

   Number             
of Shares  

Share 
Capital  

 Capital 
Reserve 

Retained 
Earnings Total 

 ‘000  $'000  $'000 $'000   $'000 

Balance at 1 January 2018 

 

Balance at 31 December 2018

 

 

 

 

 

 

Balance at 31 December 2019 

SEPROD LIMITED
Statement of Changes in Equity
Year ended 31 December 2019
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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Seprod Limited 

Year ended 31 December 2019 

 

 Note 
2019 
$’000  2018 

$’000 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Cash Flows from Financing Activities 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 

SEPROD LIMITED
Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended 31 December 2019
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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Seprod Limited 

31 December 2019 

 

 

1. Principal Activities and Operations 

Seprod Limited (“the ”) is incorporated and domiciled in Jamaica. The 

and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to as “the ”.

’s subsidiaries

Subsidiary Principal activity Country of Incorporation 
and Domicile 

Joint venture entity Principal activity Country of Incorporation 
and Domicile 

•

•

•

•

–

SEPROD LIMITED
Notes to the Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2019
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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Seprod Limited 

31 December 2019 

 
2. Significant Accounting Policies 

 
(a) Basis of preparation 

requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
estimates are based on managements’ best knowledge of current 

Standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards effective in the current financial year 

IFRS 16, ‘Leases’

reflecting future lease payments and a ‘right use asset’ for virtually all lease cont

IFRIC 23, ‘Uncertainty over income tax treatments’
requirements of IAS 12 ‘Income taxes’, are applied where there is 

usly clarified that IAS 12, not IAS 37 ‘Provisions, contingent 
liabilities and contingent assets’, applies to accounting 

on the Group’

Amendment to IFRS 9, 'Financial Instruments’, ‘Prepayment features with negative compensation'

negative compensation must be ‘reasonable compensation for early 
termination of the contract’ and the asset must be held within a ‘held to collect’ business model. 

he Group’s operations

Amendment to IAS 19, Employee benefits'

on the Group’s operat

SEPROD LIMITED
Notes to the Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2019
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)



The Le ga cy  C ontinuesThe Le ga cy  C ontinues

The Le ga cy  C ontinuesThe Le ga cy  C ontinues

The Le ga cy  C ontinuesThe Le ga cy  C ontinues The Le ga cy  C ontinuesThe Le ga cy  C ontinues

� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

83 84S E P R O D  2 0 1 9  A N N U A L  R E P O R T

Seprod Limited 

31 December 2019 

 
2.   Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

(a) Basis of preparation (continued) 
Standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards effective in the current financial year (continued) 
Amendment to IAS 28, 'Investment in associates and joint ventures'

 
Annual Improvements 2015-2017,

• Amendment to IAS 12, ‘Income taxes’

• Amendment to IAS 23, ‘Borrowing costs’

• Amendment to IFRS 3, ‘Business combinations’

• Amendment to IFRS 11, ‘Joint arrangements’

on the Group’s operations

Standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not been early adopted 
by the Group 

standards have been issued which are mandatory for the Group’s acco

Amendments to IAS 1, 'Presentation of financial statements’ and to IAS 8, ‘Accounting policies, changes in accounting 
estimates and errors'

the meaning of ‘primary users of general purpose financial statements’ to whom those financial statements are directed, by 
defining them as ‘e ntial investors, lenders and other creditors’ that must rely on general purpose financial 

Amendment to IFRS 3, 'Business combinations’

Revised conceptual framework for financial reporting 

SEPROD LIMITED
Notes to the Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2019
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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Seprod Limited 

31 December 2019 

 
2.   Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

(b) Basis of consolidation 
Consolidation of subsidiaries 

interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets.

’

’s investment. Accordingly, these loans are included in Investment in Subsidiaries on the ’s 

Transactions with non-controlling interests 

Joint ventures 

venture. The Group’s interest in the joint venture is accounted for using the equity ac

for the post acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the net assets of the joint ven

The Group’s share of its joint ventures’ post

group’s interest are not recognised unless the group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behal

group’s interest in the joint ventures. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an 
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2.    Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
   

(c) Revenue and income recognition 
Sales of goods

’s activities. Revenue is shown net of General Consumption Tax, returns, rebates an

–

customer’s acceptance of the goods.

Interest income 

Dividend income 

(d) Foreign currency translation 
’s entities are measured using the currency of primary ec

’s 

he Group’s entities

 
(e) Property, plant and equipment  

–
–
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2.   Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

(f) Intangible assets 
Goodwill 

orded at cost and represents the excess of the fair value of the consideration paid over the Group’s interest in the 

Distribution network 

Supplier relationships, trade names and brands 

(g) Impairment of non-financial assets 

ch is the greater of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purpose of 

(h) Financial assets 
Classification

Recognition and measurement 

e asset’s 

ss when the Group’s rights to receive 

  

SEPROD LIMITED
Notes to the Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2019
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)



The Le ga cy  C ontinuesThe Le ga cy  C ontinues

The Le ga cy  C ontinuesThe Le ga cy  C ontinues

The Le ga cy  C ontinuesThe Le ga cy  C ontinues The Le ga cy  C ontinuesThe Le ga cy  C ontinues

� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

87 88S E P R O D  2 0 1 9  A N N U A L  R E P O R T

Seprod Limited 

31 December 2019 

 
2.   Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

(h) Financial assets (continued) 
Impairment 
Application of the General Model to financial assets other than trade receivables 

Stage 1 –
–

Stage 2 –
–

Stage 3 –

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk 

tion, using key risk indicators that are used in the Group’s existing risk management processes. At each reporting date, the 

Macroeconomic factors, forward looking information and multiple scenarios 

Expected life 

Application of the Simplified Approach to trade receivables 

(i) Biological assets 
Livestock – 

 
Sugar cane – 

 
  

SEPROD LIMITED
Notes to the Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2019
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)



The Le ga cy  C ontinuesThe Le ga cy  C ontinues

The Le ga cy  C ontinuesThe Le ga cy  C ontinues

The Le ga cy  C ontinuesThe Le ga cy  C ontinues The Le ga cy  C ontinuesThe Le ga cy  C ontinues

� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

87 88F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S

Seprod Limited 

31 December 2019 

 
2.   Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

 
(j) Inventories 

(k) Trade receivables 

 
(l) Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations 

 
(m) Cash and cash equivalents 

(n) Payables 

(o) Borrowings 

(p) Provisions 
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2.   Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

(q) Leases 

roup’s operations. The majority of extension and termination options h

•
•

•
•
•

roup, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee 

•
•
•
•

use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s 
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2.   Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

(r) Income taxes 

 
(s) Employee benefits 

Pension obligations 
Defined benefit plan 

Defined contribution plan 

Other post-employment benefits 

Termination benefits 

Profit share scheme 

attributable to the Company’s equity holders after certain adjustments. 
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2.   Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

(t) Share capital 

Dividend distribution to the Company’s 
the Group’s financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s directors.

(u) Segment reporting 

3. Financial Risk Management 

’s
’s overall risk management programme focuse

’s financial performance. 

’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set appropriate risk limits and

’s risk management framework.  

Central treasury department 
’s financial assets and liabilities and the overall financial 

’s operating units.

Audit Committee 
’s risk management policies 
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3.      Financial Risk Management (Continued) 

Group’s financial in
The Group  The Company 

2019  2018  2019  2018 
$'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 

Financial Assets

–

Financial Liabilities
–

(a) Credit risk 

’s busin
’s receivables 

Investments 

Long term receivables 
The Group limits its exposure to credit risk arising on loans to employees for the purchase of the Company’s 
contractual right to deduct the interest and principal on the loan from the employees’ remuneration, and by holding a contrac

Cash and bank balances 
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3.   Financial Risk Management (Continued) 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 
Trade receivables 
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. The executive co

s. Customers that fail to meet the Group’s benchmark creditworthi

Group’s 

2019 

 Within 30 
days  

31 to 60 
days  

61 to 90 
days 

91 to 120 
days  

 > than 
120 days  Total   

Trade receivables $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 
 
Average expected loss rates  % % % % %
 

 
Loss allowance $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

2018 

 Within 30 
days  

31 to 60 
days  

61 to 90 
days 

91 to 120 
days  

 > than 
120 days  Total   

Trade receivables $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 
 
Average expected loss rates  % % % % %
 

 
Loss allowance $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
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3.   Financial Risk Management (Continued) 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 
Trade receivables (continued) 

The Group  The Company 
2019  2018  2019  2018 
$’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

The majority of the Group’s trade receivables are recei
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3.   Financial Risk Management (Continued) 

(b) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk management process 
’s liquidity management process, as carried out within the 

Undiscounted contractual cash flows of financial liabilities 

The Group 
Within 1 

Month  
1 to 3  

Months 
 3 to 12  
Months  

 1 to 5 
 Years  

Over 
5 years Total   

$’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 $’000  
 2019

 

2018 

 
 

The Company 
Within 1 

Month  
1 to 3  

Months 
 3 to 12  
Months  

 1 to 5 
 Years  

Over 
5 years Total   

$’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 $’000  
 2019

 

2018 
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3.   Financial Risk Management (Continued) 

(c) Market risk 

’s exposure to market risks or the manner in which it manages and measures the risk.

Currency risk 

–

–

management’s assessment of the possible change in foreign exchange rates.  

The Group  The Company 
2019  2018  2019  2018 
$’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

US$ 
–
–

Other currencies
–
–

US$ 
–
–
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3.   Financial Risk Management (Continued) 

(c) Market risk (continued) 
Interest rate risk 

’s interest rate risk policy requires it to manage i

’s interes

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Change in basis 
points 

Effect on 
 Profit before 

Taxation 

Effect on 
Other 

Components of 
Equity 

Change in 
basis 

points 

Effect on 
 Profit before 

Taxation 

Effect on 
Other 

Components of 
Equity 

2019 
JMD / USD 

2019 
$’000 

2019 
$’000 

2018 
JMD / USD 

2018 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

The Group 

The Company 
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3.   Financial Risk Management (Continued) 

(c) Market risk (continued) 
Interest rate risk (continued) 

The Group 

Within 1 
Month  

 1 to 3 
Months 

3 to 12 
Months  

 1 to 5 
Years  

Over  
5 Years  

Non-
Interest 
Bearing Total   

$’000  $’000  $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000 
 2019 

Financial assets 

Financial liabilities 

Total interest repricing gap 
2018 

Financial assets 

Financial liabilities 

Total interest repricing gap 
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3.   Financial Risk Management (Continued) 

(c) Market risk (continued) 
Interest rate risk (continued) 

The Company 

Within 1 
Month  

 1 to 3 
Months 

3 to 12 
Months  

 1 to 5 
Years  

Over  
5 Years  

Non-
Interest 
Bearing Total   

$’000  $’000  $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000 
 2019 

Financial assets 

Financial liabilities 

Total interest repricing gap 
2018 

Financial assets 

Financial liabilities 

Total interest repricing gap 

Price risk 

impact on the Group’s stockholders’ 
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3.   Financial Risk Management (Continued) 

(d) Capital management 
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to 

ecurring items, divided by total stockholders’ equity. The Board of Directors also monitors the level of dividends to 

(e) Fair value estimates 
Fair values of financial instruments 
Financial instruments classified in level 1 

s on an arm’s length 

Financial instruments classified in level 2 

Financial instruments classified in Level 3  

–

  2019  2018 
  $’000  $’000 

’s

  
Unobservable 

Inputs 
Range of unobservable inputs 

(weighted average) 
Relationship of unobservable inputs to 

fair value 

  

SEPROD LIMITED
Notes to the Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2019
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)



The Le ga cy  C ontinuesThe Le ga cy  C ontinues

The Le ga cy  C ontinuesThe Le ga cy  C ontinues

The Le ga cy  C ontinuesThe Le ga cy  C ontinues The Le ga cy  C ontinuesThe Le ga cy  C ontinues

� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

101 102S E P R O D  2 0 1 9  A N N U A L  R E P O R T

Seprod Limited 

31 December 2019 

 
3.   Financial Risk Management (Continued) 

(e) Fair value estimates 
Fair values of biological assets 

Livestock 

Sugar cane 

2019 2018 
$’000 $’000

der ‘Changes in fair value less 
estimated point of sale costs of livestock’ and ‘Other operating income’

 

2019 2018 
$’000 $’000

the end of the reporting period, under ‘Change in fair value less cost to sell 
ne’ 
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3.   Financial Risk Management (Continued) 

(e) Fair value estimates (continued) 
Fair values of biological assets (continued) 

in determined the fair value of the Group’s livestock, using a market approach for 

Fair Value at 2019 

Unobservable Inputs 
Range of unobservable 

inputs (weighted average) 
Relationship of unobservable inputs to fair 

value 

Fair Value at 2018

Unobservable Inputs 
Range of unobservable 

inputs (weighted average) 
Relationship of unobservable inputs to fair 

value 

The following unobservable inputs were used in determined the fair value of the Group’s 

               Fair Value at 2019 

Unobservable Inputs 
Range of unobservable 

inputs (weighted average) 
Relationship of unobservable inputs to fair 

value 

               Fair Value at 2018 

Unobservable Inputs 
Range of unobservable 

inputs (weighted average) 
Relationship of unobservable inputs to fair 

value 

Fair values of other financial assets and liabilities 
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4. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments in Applying Accounting Policies  

Income taxes 

Post-employment benefit obligations 

Fair value of biological assets 
Livestock 
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, managemen

Sugar cane 

each field’s yield, by estimating the tonnes of cane to be reaped, per hectare of cane planted. The value of the cane conside
and the cane’s 

Fair value of unquoted equity securities 
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4. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments in Applying Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Business combinations 

 
 
Goodwill 

Joint venture 
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5. Business Segments  

–
–

  2019 
  Manufacturing  Distribution  Eliminations  Group 

  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

Total revenue 

Operating profit 

Total consolidated assets 

Total consolidated liabilities 
–

Total capital expenditure 

Total depreciation 

  2018 
  Manufacturing  Distribution  Eliminations  Group 

  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

Total revenue 

Operating profit 

Total consolidated assets 

Total consolidated liabilities 
–

Total capital expenditure 

Total depreciation 

’s customers are mainly residen
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6. Finance and Other Operating Income 

The Group  The Company 
2019  2018  2019  2018 
$'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 

7. Expenses by Nature 

The Group  The Company 
2019  2018  2019  2018 
$'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 
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8. Staff Costs 

The Group  The Company 
2019  2018  2019  2018 
$'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 

–
–

 
9. Finance Costs 

The Group  The Company 
2019  2018  2019  2018 

$'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 

–

 
10. Taxation Expense 

The Group  The Company 
2019  2018  2019  2018 
$'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2019
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Seprod Limited 
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10. Taxation Expense (Continued) 

’s and the ’s profit

The Group  The Company 
2019  2018  2019  2018 
$'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 

The Group 
 Before Tax  Tax Effect  After Tax 
 $'000  $'000  $'000 
 2019 

 2018 

 
 The Company 

 Before Tax  Tax Effect  After Tax 
 $'000  $'000  $'000 
 2019 

 2018 
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11. Net Profit Attributable to Stockholders of the Company 

    2019  2018 
    $'000  $'000 

 

12. Earnings per Stock Unit Attributable to Stockholders of the Company 

    2019  2018 
    $'000  $'000 

Weighted average number of ordinary stock units (‘000)

13. Dividends Declared 

    2019  2018 
    $'000  $'000 

–  
–
–
–
–
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment 

The Group 
Freehold   

 Land & Site  
Improvements  Buildings  

Plant,  
Equipment   

 & Furniture   
Motor  

Vehicles  
Work in  

Progress   Total   
$'000   $'000  $'000   $'000   $'000   $'000 

2019 

 
2018 

  

SEPROD LIMITED
Notes to the Financial Statements
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued) 

The Company 
Freehold   

 Land & Site  
Improvements  Buildings  

Plant,  
Equipment   

 & Furniture   
Motor  

Vehicles  
Work in  

Progress   Total   
$'000   $'000  $'000   $'000   $'000   $'000 

2019 

 
2018 

’s property, plant and equipment have been pledged as security for its borrowings (Note 2

’s motor vehicles
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15. Right of Use Assets and Related Lease Obligation 

The Group 

   Buildings 
Motor  

Vehicles Total   
   $'000   $'000   $'000 

2019 
–

–

–

  The Group 

     2019 
$’000  

 1 January 
2019 
$’000 

 

SEPROD LIMITED
Notes to the Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2019
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)



The Le ga cy  C ontinuesThe Le ga cy  C ontinues

The Le ga cy  C ontinuesThe Le ga cy  C ontinues

The Le ga cy  C ontinuesThe Le ga cy  C ontinues The Le ga cy  C ontinuesThe Le ga cy  C ontinues

� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

113 114S E P R O D  2 0 1 9  A N N U A L  R E P O R T

Seprod Limited 

31 December 2019 

 
16. Intangible Assets 

The Group 

Goodwill 
Distribution 

network 
Supplier 

relationships 
Trade 
name Brands Total 

$'000   $'000  $'000   $'000   $'000   $'000 

 

 Revenue 
Growth Rate  

EBITDA to 
Revenue  

Capital Expenditure 
to Revenue  

Discount  
Rate 

 

 
17. Investments  

The Group & The Company 
    2019  2018 
    $'000  $'000 

Unquoted equity securities denominated in US dollars  
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18. Investment in Subsidiaries 

      2019  2018 
      $’000   $’000  

•

•

•

Summarised statement of comprehensive income for the 6-months ending (2018 – year ending):       
      June 2019  Dec 2018 

      $’000   $’000  

Summarised statement of financial position as at:       
      June 2019  Dec 2018 
      $’000   $’000  

Summarised statement of cash flows for the 6-months ending (2018 – year ending):       
      June 2019  Dec 2018 
      $’000   $’000  
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19. Investment in Joint Venture 

          The Group  The Company 
2019  2018  2019  2018 
$'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 

 

 

Summarised statement of comprehensive income 

         2019 
$’000  2018 

$’000 

Summarised statement of financial position 

         2019 
$’000  2018 

$’000 

Summarised statement of cash flows 

    2019 
$’000  2018 

$’000
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20. Long Term Receivables 

The Group  The Company 
2019  2018  2019  2018 
$'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 

–
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21. Post-employment Benefits 

 The Group & 
The Company 

    2019  2018 
    $'000  $'000 

–

–

–

 
Pension schemes 

’s ’s contribution for the 
– –

ee’s basic salary.  The ’s contri
–

Defined benefit plan  

     2019 
$’000  2018 

$’000 
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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21.  Post-employment Benefits (Continued) 

 
Pension schemes (continued) 

     2019 
$’000  2018 

$’000 

  2019 
$’000  2018 

$’000  

–
Members’ contributions

– –

  2019 
$’000  2018 

$’000

–

Employer’s contributions
Members’ contributions

  2019 
$’000  2018 

$’000

SEPROD LIMITED
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21.  Post-employment Benefits (Continued) 

 
Pension schemes (continued) 

Quoted  Unquoted Total   
$’000  $’000 $’000  % 

2019 

 
2018 

     

–
– –

 2019  2018 
Change in 

Assumption 
Increase in 

Assumption  Decrease in 
Assumption  Increase in 

Assumption  Decrease in 
Assumption 

$’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 

–

SEPROD LIMITED
Notes to the Financial Statements
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21.  Post-employment Benefits (Continued) 

 
Other post-employment benefits 

  2019 
$’000  2018 

$’000  

–

  2019 
$’000  2018 

$’000  

  2019 
$’000  2018 

$’000  

–
 2019  2018 

Change in 
Assumption 

Increase in 
Assumption  Decrease in 

Assumption  Increase in 
Assumption  Decrease in 

Assumption 
$’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 

–
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21.  Post-employment Benefits (Continued) 

 
Risks associated with pension plans and post-employment plans

Asset volatility 

’s long term strategy to manage the 
’s

Changes in bond yields 

the value of the plans’ bond holdings.

Inflation risk 
er inflation will lead to higher liabilities. The majority of the plan’s assets are either 

Life expectancy 
The majority of the plan’s ob
an increase in the plan’s liabilities. This is particularly significant, where inflationary increases result in higher sensit

’s ALM objective is to match assets to the pension
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22. Biological Assets 

Livestock – classified as non-current assets in the statement of financial position 
The Group 

2019  2018 
$'000  $'000 

–
–
–

–
–

–

  

–
–

Sugar cane – classified as current assets in the statement of financial position 
– –

–
–

 
23. Inventories 

The Group 
2019  2018 
$'000  $'000 

  

24. Trade and Other Receivables 

The Group  The Company 
2019  2018  2019  2018 
$'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 
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25. Payables 

The Group  The Company 
2019  2018  2019  2018 
$'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 

26. Share Capital 

2019  2018  2019  2018 
'000  '000  $'000  $'000 

–
–

on 9 April 2018, the Company’s shareholders 

27. Capital Reserves 

The Group  The Company 
2019  2018  2019  2018 
$'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 
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28. Long Term Liabilities 

The Group  The Company 
2019  2018  2019  2018 
$'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 

–
–

–
–
–
–

–

–

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–

–
–

The Group  The Company 
2019  2018  2019  2018 
$'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 
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28.  Long Term Liabilities (Continued) 
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29. Deferred Taxation 

The Group  The Company 
2019  2018  2019  2018 
$'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 

– –

The Group  The Company 
2019  2018  2019  2018 
$'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 

The Group  The Company 
2019  2018  2019  2018 
$'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 

The Group  The Company 
2019  2018  2019  2018 
$'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 
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29.  Deferred Taxation (Continued) 

 

–

–
’s

subsidiary’s 

–

30. Cash Generated from Operations 

 The Group  The Company 

 2019 
$’000  2018 

$’000  2019 
$’000  2018 

$’000 
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31. Contingencies and Commitments 

32. Litigation, Claims, Assessments and Provisions 

33. Related Party Transactions 

Sales and purchases of goods and services 
– –

–

Key management compensation 
2019 
$’000  2018 

$’000 

Directors’ emoluments –

Advances and loans 
–
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34. Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations 

   2019 
$’000  2018 

$’000  

   2019 
$’000  2018 

$’000  

–

   2019 
$’000  2018 

$’000  
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35. Business Combinations (Prior Year) 

Acquisition of Facey Commodity Holdings Limited 

the Group’s distribution capability.

  $’000 

  $’000 

  $’000 
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35.  Business Combinations (Prior Year) (Continued) 

Transfer of Musson Holdings Limited into the Group 

the Group’s capacity for the processing of milk products and juices.

  $’000 

36. Effect of Change in Accounting Policy 

recognised lease liabilities in relation to leases which had previously been classified as ‘operating 
leases’ under the principles of
discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate as of 1 January 2019. The weighted average lessee’s incremental 
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36.  Effect of Change in Accounting Policy (Continued) 

  $’000 

Discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate of at the date of initial application

Group’s summarised

 At 31 December 
2018 Effect of adoption At 1 January 

2019 
 $'000 $'000 $'000 
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Seprod Limited 

31 December 2019 

 
37. Post Balance Sheet Event 

“ ”

Based on the nature of the Group’s activities, management is of the view that the 
Group’s revenues and profitability will be sustained during the

SEPROD LIMITED
Notes to the Financial Statements
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I ............................................................................................................ being a member of Seprod Limited, hereby 

appoint ......................................................................... or failing him ............................................................................

of .......................................................................................... as my proxy to vote for me on my behalf at the Annual 

General Meeting of the Company to be held on the 21st day of  September, 2020, and at any adjournment thereof.

....................................................................
Signature

Note:	 1)	 If the appointer is a corporation, this form must be under its common seal and under the hand of an 

		  officer or attorney duly authorised.

	 2)	 To be valid, this proxy must be lodged with the Secretary of the Company, 3 Felix Fox Boulevard, 

		  Kingston, not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting. A proxy 

		  need not be a member of the Company.

FORM OF PROXY

$100.00
stamp 
to be
affixed








